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4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that this property is:

___entered in the National Register

___ determined eligible for the National Register
___determined not eligible for the National Register
___removed from the National Register

___other (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action

5. Classification

Ownership of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply.)
Private:

Public — Local X

Public — State

Public — Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s) X

District

Site

Structure

Object
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7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)
OTHER/Lustron

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: STEEL

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style,
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has
historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

The Mary H. Matthews Lustron House is an example of the Westchester Model 02 design
offered by the Lustron Corporation in the late 1940s. The house is one-story tall and is built on a
concrete-block foundation. The house features a steel frame and the walls are covered in the
iconic square porcelain-enameled steel panels. The low-pitched gable roof is also covered in
porcelain-enameled steel roof tiles, and the gable ends are covered in steel panels with a vertical
board pattern on them. The house retains its original metal-framed windows.

The house also has an addition on the south side. The wood-framed addition with a flat roof is
covered in weatherboard siding. The addition is fenestrated by three-pane windows, and also has
a large brick chimney on the west side. An open carport extends to the south of the addition.

Narrative Description

The Mary H. Matthews Lustron House is an example of the Westchester Model 02 design
offered by the Lustron Corporation in the late 1940s. The “02” designation referred to the fact
that this version of the model had two bedrooms, along with the kitchen, dining room, living
room, bathroom, and utility room. Measuring 31 feet by 35 feet, the original portion of the

Section 7 page 4












United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Matteews, Mary H., Lustron House a Pulaski County, Arkansas
Name of Property County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing.)

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

% C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes

B. Removed from its original location

C. A birthplace or grave

D. A cemetery

E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure

F. A commemorative property

G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any
applicable criteria considerations.)

The Mary H. Matthews Lustron House is a good example of the porcelain-enameled steel
Lustron House of the late 1940s, which was developed as a pre-fabricated house that could be
erected cheaply and quickly on its site. The Lustron House was hoped to be mass-produced and
was also hoped to be a house type that could aid in alleviating the post-World-War-II housing
shortage that was a problem across the country. By the end of 1949, twelve Lustron homes had
been shipped to Arkansas, and the Matthews House is one of four known surviving examples in
the state, and one of two known to survive in Little Rock. As a rare surviving example of a
Lustron House in Arkansas, the Mary H. Matthews Lustron House is being nominated to the
National Register of Historic Places with statewide significance under Criterion C.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of
significance.)

HISTORY OF THE PROPERTY

Like much of the country, Little Rock suffered a severe housing shortage after World War II. As
Jim and Judy Lester write in their book Greater Little Rock, “With the victory over Germany and
Japan secured, American GIs rushed home from Europe and Asia to pursue the American dream.
In Little Rock, the late 1940s were marked by serious housing shortages as veterans flocked back
to central Arkansas. To meet this need, developers converted woodlands in the west into tract
houses and expanded areas like Cammack Village that had been built during the war.”' The
growth of Little Rock to the west was also the result of the increasing number and usage of
automobiles. “Rush-hour traffic jams, irritating parking meters, and confusing one-way streets
began to erode the glamour of shopping in the downtown area.”

To help deal with the housing shortage, several solutions were employed. In the city’s older
neighborhoods, many of the large old homes were divided into apartments, and the first
federally-funded, low-income housing projects were also initially diverted to house war plant
workers. However, once World War II was over, and construction materials became more
available, small new houses could once again be built to house the influx of city residents.
Although new neighborhoods were developed, the houses were also built in previously platted
neighborhoods around the city that had not seen much development prior to the war, including
the Cunningham’s Addition to the City of Little Rock.’

The Cunningham’s Addition to the City of Little Rock, where the Matthews Lustron House was
built, first appears on the 1913 Sanborn maps for the city, although there are no detail sheets for

! Lester, Jim, and Judy Lester. Greater Little Rock. Norfolk, VA: Donning Company, Publishers, 1986, p- 200.
2 .

Ibid.
3 Roy, F. Hampton, Sr., Charles Witsell, Jr., and Cheryl Griffith Nichols. How We Lived: Little Rock as an
American City. Little Rock: August House, 1984, p. 206.
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Although many of the companies that produced portable or sectional houses were located in the
eastern United States, at least one company existed in the Midwest as well. In the mid-1860s,
Col. Lyman Bridges began manufacturing houses in Chicago, and he exhibited one of his houses
at the Paris Exposition Universelle in 1867. As Reiff states, “It was standard balloon-frame
construction, but came as a ‘complete package,” including ‘the sill and everything above them,’
with all “finishing lumber dressed, ready to be fitted together’ and all the components (‘doors,
door frames, glazed sash, steps, stairs, brackets, railings, trimmings, locks, knobs, hinges,
screws, nails, [even] chimney and flues’) ready for assembly, according to an 1870 catalog.”’

Even though most early efforts at constructing prefabricated houses involved wood construction,
a couple of efforts involved concrete. Notably, in the first decade of the 1900s Thomas Edison
proposed a system for constructing a concrete house in one pour, although it ultimately proved to
be impractical on a commercial scale. Another effort involving concrete was undertaken by
architect Grosvenor Atterbury who had devised a system of pre-cast hollow-core concrete panels
for floors, walls, and roofs. With the support of the Russell Sage Foundation, Atterbury did erect
several hundred houses between 1910 and 1918 in Forest Hills, New York.?

The first efforts looking at the use of steel for prefabricated housing likely emerged in the 1920s
when Walter Gropius and his colleagues at the Bauhaus in Germany built a steel house to
coincide with the building of the new Bauhaus building in 1926. In the same year, Karl Kastner
and Company in Leipzig, Germany, also built a steel house. Interestingly, both of the German

effortsgwere also in response to a housing shortage that was plaguing Germany in the mid-
1920s.

Also in the 1920s some efforts were undertaken in this country, but they focused on commercial
buildings and storage sheds. L. W. Ray, for example, designed and patented a portable unit that
became the standard for White Castle Hamburger stands in 1928. Like the Lustron later on,
Ray’s design used a steel frame and porcelain-enameled steel panels that fastened to the frame to
become the interior and exterior walls.'”

However, it was not until the Century of Progress Exposition in 1933 that the real possibility of
acceptance of prefabricated metal housing came to be. Of the 11 model houses that were
constructed for the event, three were manufactured primarily from steel. The General Houses
House, the Armco-Ferro Enamel House (a joint venture between the American Rolling Mill
Company [ARMCO] of Middletown, Ohio, and the Ferro Enamel Corporation of Cleveland, and

" Reiff, Daniel D. Houses from Books: Treatises, Pattern Books, and Catalogs in American Architecture, 1738-
1950: A History and Guide. University Park, Pennsylvania: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 2000, p. 119.
¥ Knerr, Douglas. Suburban Steel: The Magnificent Failure of the Lustron Corporation, 1945-1951. Columbus,
OH: The Ohio State University Press, 2004, p. 34.

® Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, p.7.

'% Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, p. 7.
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Although Wyatt and the government were not willing to release steel for the construction of
hamburger stands and service stations, especially given the post-war housing shortage, they were
willing to release an unlimited supply of steel for housing. Although Strandlund’s hopes were
probably somewhat dashed, he did see a tremendous opportunity in the use of steel for housing.
In fact, he had designs for the Lustron with him.'”

The prototype Lustron house was manufactured using the tooling that Chicago Vitreous had
retained from before World War II, and it was named the “Esquire.” Once the idea for the plan
of the Lustron houses was developed Strandlund commissioned two architects who had
previously done work for Chicago Vitreous to design the prototype house. Morris H. Beckman
and Roy Burton Blass were familiar with the company’s capabilities and were well-suited for the
task. Beckman had graduated from MIT in 1938, and had risen quickly to become a chief
draftsman at the firm of Skidmore, Owings and Merrill (SOM). In 1945, Beckman left SOM and
established the firm of Beckman and Blass in Wilmette, Illinois, with Blass as his partner.'®

The design that Beckman and Blass came up with reflected the strong consumer desire for a
flexible interior with open spaces and multipurpose rooms. They chose the ranch style for the
Lustron for several reasons. First, it was a simple design that could be adapted to a wide variety
of locations and lot characteristics. Second, it gave the house a broad potential market, and since
it was a design that many were familiar with, it was hoped that this would outweigh any potential
negativity associated with the novelty of the steel construction. The ranch style also
“represented modularity and modernity, a reduction of housing to its most essential features
without sacrificing livability.”"

Although the panels for the house were done by Chicago Vitreous initially, the frame for the
prototype was done by Macomber Steel in Canton, Ohio, following the design of Beckman and
Blass. Once the frame was completed, it was shipped to the site in South Hinsdale, Illinois,
where the prototype would be constructed. In addition, while the framev b~ manu” ‘ured,
the engineers were looking for a suitable material to be used to seal the gaps between the steel
panels. After testing several materials, they settled on polyvinyl chloride, which is used today
for bottle cap gaskets for baby food, pickles, and jelly, among other food products.?

The prototype house was erected on the grounds of the Hinsdale Nursery, a commercial supplier
of trees, shrubs, and plants for private and commercial use, at 7210 South Madison Street. The
company had a large formal garden near the nursery’s entrance and the house was built in the
middle of it. Like the eventual production models, the Esquire prototype used porcelain-
enameled steel for the walls, roof, gutters, and downspouts. However, some of the interior

"7 Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, pp. 4-5.

'® Knerr, Douglas. Suburban Steel: The Magnificent Failure of the Lustron Corporation, 1945-1951. Columbus,
OH: The Ohio State University Press, 2004, p. 78.

" Knerr, Douglas. Suburban Steel: The Magnificent Failure of the Lustron Corporation, 1945-1951. Columbus,
OH: The Ohio State University Press, 2004, p. 78.

%0 Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, p. 18.
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340 feet wide, and had a working height of 35 feet. By April 1948, Lustron had hired 500 people
for the plant and had hoped to have 7,000 on the payroll by September.”

At the same time that Lustron was seeking a factory for home production, they were also seeking
funding to fund the corporation. However, on November 2, 1946, the RFC turned down Wyatt’s
request for $32 million since most companies who were seeking funding from the RFC were not
putting in enough capital of their own. As RFC chairman of the board Charles B. Henderson
wrote on October 31, 1946, “The Lustron application provided that, in relation to total
borrowings of $52 million, the owners of the business would only contribute $36,000 or 7/100 of
one percent.”*

At this point Lustron was still part of Chicago Vit and Porcelain Products, which meant that they
were partially liable for any loan funds that Lustron received. Since Porcelain Products had
become inactive and Chicago Vit declined loan funds, it paved the way for Strandlund to set up a
totally new “Lustron Corporation” on October 31, 1947. As Fetters and Kohler write:

On the same day, October 31, Strandlund resigned from
Chicago Vitreous Enamel Products and at the same time purchased
the ‘Lustron’ trademark, the machinery required to produce the
pilot homes, and all interests that the company had in the Lustron
house, using his substantial holding of Chicago Vit stock in a
trade.”’

At the same time that the company was organized, a board of directors was put in place. The
board of directors for the Lustron Corporation had members from many different backgrounds,
including several members that represented some of Lustron’s suppliers. Members included
Raymond Hurley, vice chairman of the Thor Corporation, the manufacturer of Lustron’s
dishwasher/washing machine unit; Louis Leverone, president of the Automatic Canteen
Company, a supplier of kitchen and bathroom components; George Delp, president of the New
Holland Machine Company, a manufacturer of Lustron’s enameling machinery; and Paul O.
Buckley, an officer of the Federal Machine and Welder Company, a supplier of production
equipment for steel processing. Directors inside the company included Strandlund, Russell G.
Davis, who was executive vice president, and Fred M. Lowum, also a vice president and
treasurer.”®

The upper management at Lustron, in addition to their wide-ranging backgrounds, also had wide-
ranging salaries. Strandlund’s salary was $50,000 (which was a 50% reduction from his salary

% Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, p. 55.

% Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, p. 31.

%7 Fetters, Thomas T. and Vincent Kohler, contributing author. The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar
Prefabricated Housing Experiment. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2002, p. 37.

% Knerr, Douglas. Suburban Steel: The Magnificent Failure of the Lustron Corporation, 1945-1951. Columbus,
OH: The Ohio State University Press, 2004, p. 99.
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